FILED 02-10-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2020AP1876-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff -Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

TOMAS JAYMITCHELL HOYLE,

Defendant-Appellant.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JENNIFER L. VANDERMEUSE Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1070979

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-1740 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) vandermeusejl@doj.state.wi.us

###

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits a prosecutor from commenting on a defendant's failure to take the stand. However, this Court has held that it is proper for a prosecutor to point out generally that no evidence has been introduced to show the defendant's innocence. *Bies v. State*, 53 Wis. 2d 322, 325, 193 N.W.2d 46 (1972). A prosecutor's comment that the State's evidence is uncontroverted is generally permissible under this standard. *Id*.

Here, Hoyle was charged with sexually assaulting a fifteen-year-old girl. The victim was the State's primary witness at trial, and there were no other witnesses to the crime. Hoyle's lawyer cross examined the victim, but she maintained that the assault occurred. Hoyle chose not to take the stand and the defense declined to introduce evidence of its own. The prosecutor argued in closing that the evidence against Hoyle was uncontroverted. Was this comment proper?

The circuit court answered yes.

The court of appeals answered no and held that the prosecutor's remarks violated Hoyle's Fifth Amendment right not to testify.

This Court should grant this petition for review and answer yes. The comment was not a comment on the defendant's failure to take the stand. Rather, it was a comment directed at the evidence in general, which is permissible under this Court's precedent.

### STATEMENT OF CRITERIA FOR GRANTING REVIEW

This case meets two criteria for review. First, it presents a real and significant question of federal constitutional law, as interpreted in Wisconsin. Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(a). Second, an opinion from this Court will help clarify the law surrounding a prosecutor's ability to comment on the evidence at trial and a defendant's Fifth Amendment right not to testify. Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(c). This Court has not elaborated on its holding in *Bies v. State*, and the court of appeals has given conflicting interpretations of that opinion. Clarification is warranted. Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(c)1. Further, the resolution of this issue will have statewide impact. Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(c)2.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Hoyle with four sexual assault offenses: two counts of second-degree sexual assault in violation of Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(a); and two counts of second-degree sexual assault of a child less than 16 years of age in violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.02(2). (R. 1:1.) After a two-day trial, the jury found Hoyle guilty on all counts. (R. 92:51.)

Hannah,<sup>2</sup> the victim, was the principal witness at trial. She testified that she was 15 years old at the time of the assault, which occurred in February 2017. (R. 91:144–45.) On the day of the assault, Hannah accepted a ride from Hoyle, the older stepbrother of her old best friend. (R. 91:138, 175–76.) Because she was expected back at home, she told Hoyle that she only had about five minutes to hang out. (R. 91:142–43.) At the time, she was "high" or "buzzed," having consumed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 53 Wis. 2d 322, 193 N.W.2d 46 (1972).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The State uses a pseudonym, Hannah, to refer to the victim. See Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.86(4).

some Vicodin (which she took from her sister) and some liquor throughout the day. (R. 91:140–42, 171–72.)

Hoyle and Hannah started driving around, and eventually went towards Cadott on County Road X. (R. 91:143–44.) Hannah couldn't say how far into Cadott they went, but she "remember[ed] crossing a bridge and a couple of bars." (R. 91:144.) Hannah "didn't say anything [about the direction of the drive], but in my head I was kind of confused." (R. 91:144.) As they drove, Hoyle kept telling Hannah to sing along with the radio, which she didn't want to do, and "kept poking my legs." (R. 91:146.)

At some point, Hoyle turned down a dead-end road. (R. 91:145.) He stopped the car. (R. 91:145–46.) Confused, Hannah got out of the car. (R. 91:146.) Hoyle told her to get back in the car. She got into the back seat, passenger side; earlier, she had been in the front passenger seat. (R. 91:147.) She got into the back seat because "I was scared. I didn't want him touching me any more, so I thought by sitting in the back, he wouldn't have access to touching me." (R. 91:148.) She thought that once she got back in the car, Hoyle would bring her home. (R. 91:148.)

Instead, he climbed into the back seat and moved close to her. (R. 91:148.) He started pulling her pants down. (R. 91:150.) Hannah tried to pull them back up, but Hoyle ultimately "won that tug of war" and removed Hannah's pants and her underwear. (R. 91:151.) She told him to stop, but he didn't listen. (R. 91:150–51.) She was scared. (R. 91:151.) Hoyle proceeded to penetrate her with his fingers for a few seconds. (R. 91:156.) She "didn't want to be touched that way," and had not given him permission to do so. (R. 91:156.) Then he penetrated her with his penis. (R. 91:157–58.) She told him she might become pregnant. (R. 91:158.) He told her not to worry; she didn't remember if he used protection. (R 91:158.)

Page 8 of 25

After the assault, Hannah returned to the front seat of the car. (R. 91:159.) "On the ride back, before he dropped me off, he said that if anyone finds out about this, someone is going to end up dead." (R. 91:160.) Hoyle dropped her off in front of a bar across the street from the trailer court where she lived. (R. 91:159.) Hannah stated at the end of this narrative that she made it clear to Hoyle through "my words and my actions" that she didn't want to "do this." (R. 91:161.)

Hannah didn't tell her mother, stepfather, or sisters that Hoyle had assaulted her. (R. 91:178.) She disclosed the assault to Officer Nelson, the school liaison officer, and Investigator Kari Szotkowski.<sup>3</sup> (R. 91:163–64.) Hannah shared the details of the assault with Investigator Szotkowski the month after the assault took place but did not name the person who assaulted her because she was "scared." (R. 91:165.) After that, Hannah spoke to Officer Nelson again and identified Hoyle as her assailant. (R. 91:166.)

On cross, Hannah acknowledged that she could not recall what day in February the assault occurred. (R. 91:169.) She admitted that she had taken pills and alcohol that day, though she testified that she was "buzzed" and "still had a sense of what was going on around me." (R. 91:141, 170-72.) Hannah explained how Hoyle removed her shoes and other articles of clothing while they were in the back seat. (R. 91:176–78.) She reiterated that she did not tell her mother or any family members about the assault. (R. 91:178.) She acknowledged that she did not immediately tell Investigator Szotkowski who the perpetrator was. (R. 91:179.)

Investigator Szotkowski was the only other witness for the State. (R. 91:181-88.) She testified briefly as to her investigation of the assault, based on her interviews with Hannah. (R. 91:181–88.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Hannah knew her as "Kari Anderson." (R. 91:163-64.)

After the State rested, Hoyle exercised his right not to testify, and the defense did not introduce any evidence. (R. 91:191–93.)

In his closing argument, the prosecutor told the jury that it was "to decide this case solely, solely on the evidence offered and received at the trial." (R. 92:18.) "You're not to speculate about other things that may be out there... You're to focus solely on the evidence that was presented to you yesterday in this trial." (R. 92:18.) He went on to note that Hannah's testimony "is uncontroverted. You have heard no evidence disputing her account of that sexual assault. You heard nothing." (R. 92:18–19; accord 92:20–21.)

Defense counsel's closing emphasized the evidence that Hannah's testimony did not provide. Hannah could not identify the date of the assault. (R. 92:29.) He also pointed out that Investigator Szotkowski did not interview Hannah's mother or the rest of her family to determine her demeanor after the assault. (R. 92:29-31.) Nor did she canvas the neighborhood or ascertain whether the bar where Hoyle dropped Hannah off might have had surveillance video. (R. 92:32.) Nor was there any physical evidence of the assault. (R. 92:32.) Defense counsel also questioned why there was not more evidence at trial about the car. (R. 92:33.) Further, counsel questioned the lack of investigation into the effect of Hannah's intoxication on her memory. (R. 92:36.) He emphasized the gradual revelation of the assault and her uncertainty not just about when the assault took place, but when she spoke to the investigators, and when she named Hoyle. (R. 92:36-37.)

In rebuttal, the prosecutor noted that the defense did not "disagree it's uncontroverted. They just say you should ask for more. It's not my job to give you information I don't have." (R. 92:44.) The prosecutor continued, "I will agree to that, you don't have that additional information, but the jury instruction says you are not to speculate about that." (R. 92:44.)

The jury found Hoyle guilty on all four counts. (R. 92:51.) The court sentenced Hoyle to eight years of initial confinement and ten years of extended supervision. (R. 43; 93:26.)

Hoyle filed a postconviction motion. (R. 63.) He made seven arguments, four of which he pursued in the court of appeals. *State v. Hoyle*, No. 2020AP1876-CR, ¶ 1 (Wis. Ct. App. Jan. 11, 2022). Relevant here, Hoyle argued that the State's closing argument violated his Fifth Amendment right not to testify by referring to "uncontroverted evidence." (R. 63:23–26.) The circuit court denied relief on all four grounds. (R. 76; 94:29–32.)

In a published decision, the court of appeals resolved only one of the four issues, concluding that the State's argument that the evidence was uncontroverted violated Hoyle's Fifth Amendment right not to testify at trial. *Hoyle*, 2020AP1876-CR, ¶ 2. The court declined to decide the other three issues, holding that the Fifth Amendment issue was dispositive. *Hoyle*, 2020AP1876-CR, ¶ 2.

The Hoyle court relied on the test set out in State v. Jaimes, 2006 WI App 93, ¶ 21, 292 Wis. 2d 656, 715 N.W.2d

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Hoyle's other three arguments were as follows. First, he asked for a new trial based on newly discovered evidence that Hannah told the presentence investigator that she has not discussed the sexual assault with her counselor because she does not want to constantly relive the assault. (R. 31:4–5; 63:3–7.) This differed from her trial testimony attributing her calm demeanor to discussing the assault in therapy. (R. 91:167–68.) Second, if the court denied the new trial motion, Hoyle asked for postconviction discovery of Hannah's counseling records. (R. 63:8–13.) Third, Hoyle asked for a new trial based on the State's alleged failure to disclose certain pretrial statements Hannah made to Officer Nelson. (R. 63:13–18.)

669 (discussing United States v. Robinson, 485 U.S. 25, 34 (1988)). Hoyle, 2020AP1876-CR, ¶ 14. Applying Jaimes, the court concluded that the prosecutor's comment was an improper reference to the defendant's failure to testify. The court reasoned that the only person who could have directly controverted Hannah's testimony was Hoyle, the sole other witness to the assault. Hoyle, 2020AP1876-CR, ¶ 15.

The court of appeals disagreed with the State that *Bies* authorizes the term "uncontroverted." Hoyle, 2020AP1876-CR, ¶¶ 16–18. The Hoyle court read Bies to mean that a prosecutor can say evidence is uncontroverted only if it concerns an aspect of the case "that the defendant did [not] actually dispute." Hoyle, 2020AP1876-CR, ¶ 18.

The Hoyle court also relied on United States v. Cotnam, 88 F.3d 487, 499 (7th Cir. 1996). In that case, the Seventh Circuit said, "[i[t appears obvious that using the word 'uncontroverted' in referring to government evidence...where it is highly unlikely that anyone beyond the non-testifying defendant could contradict the evidence, is [] improper." Hoyle, 2020AP1876-CR, ¶ 19 (quoting Cotnam, 88 F.3d at 499). The Hoyle court decided that only Hoyle could contradict the evidence in this case. Therefore, the prosecutor's comments that the evidence was "uncontroverted" were an improper comment on Hoyle's decision not to testify. Hoyle, 2020AP1876-CR, ¶ 19.

The State now seeks this Court's review.5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The State is not asking this Court to take up the three issues the court of appeals did not decide. The court of appeals provided no analysis as to those issues, the issues do not appear to meet this Court's criteria for review, and they are not relevant to the Fifth Amendment issue. However, if this Court grants review and reverses on the Fifth Amendment issue, a remand to the court of appeals would be appropriate to resolve the remaining issues.

#### ARGUMENT

## A. This case presents a real and significant question of constitutional law.

The issue in this case is whether a prosecutor may tell the jury that the State's evidence is uncontroverted when the defendant elects not to take the stand and there are no other direct witnesses to the crime, other than the victim. This Court should grant this petition because the issue concerns an important question of federal constitutional law, as interpreted under Wisconsin law. Wis. Stat. 809.62(1r)(a).

The self-incrimination clause of the Fifth Amendment provides that "[n]o person ... shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself." U.S. Const. amend. V. This provision is made applicable to the states by the Fourteenth Amendment. *Griffin v. California*, 380 U.S. 609, 611 (1965). Wisconsin's constitution also provides that no person "may be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself or herself." Wis. Const. art. I, § 8. This Court "has normally construed the right against self-incrimination in Article I, Section 8 of the Wisconsin Constitution to be consistent with the United States Supreme Court's interpretation of the federal right." *State v. Stevens*, 2012 WI 97, ¶ 40, 343 Wis. 2d 157, 822 N.W.2d 79.

A comment on a defendant's failure to take the stand violates the Fifth Amendment's guarantee against self-incrimination. State v. Spring, 48 Wis. 2d 333, 338–39, 179 N.W.2d 841 (1970) (citing Griffin, 380 U.S. 609). However, "it is proper for the district attorney to point out generally that no evidence has been introduced to show the innocence of the defendant." Bies, 53 Wis. 2d at 325 (citation omitted).

It is not always easy to tell when a comment moves from what is permissible under *Bies* to what is impermissible under the Fifth Amendment. When a prosecutor notes that the State's evidence is generally uncontroverted, or there is a general absence of facts in the record, the case "straddles a fine line between permissible and impermissible commentary by the State." *State v. Doss*, 2008 WI 93, ¶ 94, 312 Wis. 2d 570, 754 N.W.2d 150. Given this, a careful and thorough analysis of prosecutorial comments in the context of the record is the best approach to resolving whether the comment is permissible. *Id*. ¶ 92 (noting these issues should be resolved on a case-by-case basis).

The U.S. Supreme Court has recognized "that a prosecutor's statement that ... 'refers to testimony as uncontradicted where the defendant has elected not to testify and when he is the only person able to dispute the testimony,' ... may not actually constitute a violation at all." *Id.* ¶ 94 (citing United States v. Hasting, 461 U.S. 499, 503, 506 & n.4 (1983)). Doss considered the issue in the context of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, because trial counsel had failed to object to the prosecutor's comments. *Id.* ¶¶ 83, 90–94. The Doss Court did not directly resolve whether the comments at issue violated the Fifth Amendment. *Id.* ¶¶ 90–94.

This Court should grant this petition to give lower courts further and correct guidance on this important issue of constitutional law. This case concerns overlapping obligations and rights in the criminal justice system. It concerns the jury's obligation to decide a case solely on the evidence

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> As explained below, Hoyle's testimony was not the only evidence that could controvert Hannah's testimony. But even assuming that it was, neither this Court nor the United States Supreme Court have held that a prosecutor's comment that the evidence was "uncontroverted" was a *per se* Fifth Amendment violation.

Case 2020AP001876 Petition for Review Filed 02-10-2022 Page 14 of 25

presented at the trial, the State's right to point out generally that no evidence has been introduced to show the innocence of the defendant, and the defendant's constitutional right not to take the stand.

The court of appeals did not engage in a thorough, contextual analysis of the prosecutor's comments. Its reasoning rests on a flawed premise, as discussed below. Further, its holding is so broad that it could prevent the State from fairly commenting on the evidence in any case in which there are no witnesses to the crime other than the victim. If left in place, *Hoyle* will tilt the playing field in a direction that could cause confusion among prosecutors as to what comments are permissible and hurt victims' cases, in a manner that is not required by the Fifth Amendment.

Resolution of this issue will have statewide impact. Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(c)2. This Court would provide guidance to district attorneys' offices by clarifying how to describe the evidence in the record (and the evidence not in the record) when a defendant elects not testify. During closing argument, prosecutors often point out when facts are not in the record. State v. Johnson, 121 Wis. 2d 237, 246, 358 N.W.2d 824 (Ct. App. 1984) ("[q]uestions about the absence of facts in the record need not be taken as comment on defendant's failure to testify") (quotation omitted). Comments that the State's evidence is uncontroverted are comments on the absence of evidence generally, consistent with standard jury instructions. See, e.g., Wis. JI-Criminal 50 (2020) ("[y]our duty is to decide the case based only on the evidence presented at trial and the law given to you by the court.") A decision from this Court that clarifies whether and when prosecutorial comments are proper will impact criminal trials statewide, particularly when a defendant elects not testify and when the only witness to the crime is the victim.

## B. An opinion from this Court will help develop, clarify, and harmonize the law.

As a second reason to grant review, an opinion from this Court will help clarify the law. Lower courts would benefit from this Court's guidance regarding a prosecutor's ability to comment on evidence at trial without infringing on a defendant's Fifth Amendment right to remain silent. Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(c). The *Hoyle* court misapplied existing court of appeals precedent by incorrectly assuming that only Hoyle's testimony could contradict the State's evidence. The court of appeals also misread *Bies* and relied on a Seventh Circuit decision that is neither controlling nor on all fours with this case. This Court should grant review and reverse.

1. The *Hoyle* decision misapplied court of appeals precedent and incorrectly assumed that only Hoyle's testimony could contradict the State's evidence.

The Hoyle decision cites two published Wisconsin court of appeals decisions: State v. Johnson<sup>7</sup> and State v. Jaimes.<sup>8</sup> These cases address whether certain prosecutorial comments were permissible in order to fairly respond to an argument that the defense raised, or whether they instead were an impermissible commentary on the defendants' failure to testify. The Hoyle court did not correctly analyze or apply the standards set forth in those cases.

 $<sup>^{7}</sup>$  State v. Johnson, 121 Wis. 2d 237, 358 N.W.2d 824 (Ct. App. 1984).

<sup>8</sup> State v. Jaimes, 2006 WI App 93, 292 Wis. 2d 656, 715 N.W.2d 669.

In *Johnson*, the pro se defendant presented his own opening statement and did not testify. *Johnson*, 121 Wis. 2d at 242. The prosecutor informed the jury that Johnson's statements were not evidence and not given under oath or subject to cross examination. *Id*. Johnson contended that the prosecutor's statements were an improper comment on his failure to testify, in violation of the Fifth Amendment. *Id*. at 242–44.

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