FILED
05-31-2022
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN
SUPREME COURT
Case No. 2020AP001876-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,
v.
TOMAS JAYMITCHELL HOYLE,
Defendant-Appellant.

RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION
TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

THOMAS B. AQUINO
Assistant State Public Defender
State Bar No. 1066516

Office of the State Public Defender
Post Office Box 7862
Madison, WI 53707-7862
(608) 266-1971
aquinot@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

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

¹ This Response adopts the pseudonym for the victim used by the Court of Appeals in its opinion and the State in its petition.

In the first part of its Petition, the State argues that review is necessary to provide guidance on when a prosecutor's argument based on a lack of evidence supporting a defense claim becomes an impermissible comment on the defendant's decision not to testify. (Petition at 9-12). However, the Petition fails to acknowledge the long history of the current rule alluded to above. Nor does the Petition, at least in this part of its argument, acknowledge the three-part test articulated by the Court of Appeals in *State v. Jaimes*, 2006 WI App 93, ¶21, 292 Wis. 2d 656, 715 N.W.2d 669. Indeed, the State does not argue that this test should be modified in any way.

The State instead argues, in the second part of its Petition, that the Court of Appeals misapplied the *Jaimes* test. (Petition at 12). However, this Court's "primary function is that of law defining and law development," not correcting errors by the court of appeals. *Cook v. Cook*, 208 Wis. 2d 166, 189, 560 N.W.2d 246, 255 (1997). Moreover, the State's primary argument – that there was other evidence besides Hoyle's testimony that could have "controverted" the victim's claims – was not made to the court of appeals below, and cannot be raised in this Court on the first instance. Plus, even if the State's argument had been preserved, it is not supported by the record. Accordingly, review is not warranted.

A. It is well-established that while a prosecutor may comment on the lack of evidence supporting a defense theory, the prosecutor may not comment on the defendant's decision not to testify.

Under the English common law, defendants were not allowed to testify on their own behalf, the theory being that their natural interest in the outcome of the trial made them too unreliable as witnesses. *See State v. Albright*, 96 Wis. 2d 122, 126-127 & n. 4-5. Wisconsin, like most other jurisdictions, did away with this common law rule by statute, providing that defendants were competent to testify on their own behalf. *Id.* The statutes also provided that the prosecutor could not make any arguments based on a defendant's decision not to exercise this right to testify. *Id.*

Accordingly, as far back as 1891, this Court held that

This [statute] having expressly declared that the omission of the defendant in a criminal action to testify shall create no presumption against him, it was highly improper *to intimate or argue* to the jury that such omission should raise any presumption against him as to his guilt.

Martin v. State, 79 Wis. 165, 48 N.W. 119, 122 (1891) (emphasis supplied). The court frequently addressed whether a prosecutor's comments were a proper remark upon the lack of evidence supporting a defense theory, or had veered over the line to impermissibly "intimate or argue" guilt based on the defendant's

failure to testify. *Id.*; *Werner v. State*, 189 Wis. 26, 206 N.W. 898, 903 (1926); *Lam Yee v. State*, 132 Wis. 527, 112 N.W. 425, 426–27 (1907); *Dunn v. State*, 118 Wis. 82, 94 N.W. 646, 648 (1903).

The United State Supreme Court later declared a constitutional basis for this rule, as comments on a defendant’s silence amount to a “penalty” on the exercise of the Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination. *Griffin v. California*, 380 U.S. 609, 615 (1965). The Court of Appeals subsequently stated that the test

for determining whether remarks are directed to a defendant’s failure to testify is whether the language used was manifestly intended or was of such character that the jury would naturally and necessarily take it to be a comment on the failure of the accused to testify.

State v. Johnson, 121 Wis. 2d 237, 246, 358 N.W.2d 824 (Ct. App. 1984) (citations and quotation marks omitted).

Several years after *Johnson* the Supreme Court recognized that a defendant’s own arguments may invite a prosecutor’s comments about the decision not to testify. *United States v. Robinson*, 485 U.S. 25, 34 (1988). The Court of Appeals later modified the rule it announced in *Johnson* in light of *Robinson*, summarizing a three-part test as follows:

for a prosecutor’s comment to constitute an improper reference to the defendant’s failure to testify, three factors must be present: (1) the comment must constitute a reference to the

defendant's failure to testify; (2) the comment must propose that the failure to testify demonstrates guilt; and (3) the comment must not be a fair response to a defense argument.

State v. Jaimes, 2006 WI App 93, ¶ 21, 292 Wis. 2d 656, 669–70, 715 N.W.2d 669, 675. Notably, *Jaimes* retained the *Johnson* test “for determining whether remarks are directed to a defendant’s failure to testify.” *Id.*

The Wisconsin Supreme Court, for its part, has recognized the *Jaimes* and *Johnson* tests formulated by the Court of Appeals. *State v. Doss*, 2008 WI 93, ¶¶ 81, 93, 312 Wis. 2d 570, 619, 754 N.W.2d 150, 174. The Court has also observed that whether a prosecutor’s comments are improper is a fact-intensive inquiry that “must be made case by case.” *State v. Moeck*, 2005 WI 57, ¶ 74, 280 Wis. 2d 277, 306, 695 N.W.2d 783, 798 (quoting *State v. Edwardsen*, 146 Wis.2d 198, 215, 430 N.W.2d 604 (Ct.App.1988)).

In the first part of the its Petition, the State requests review so this Court may provide “guidance” on when a prosecutor’s argument is an impermissible comment on the defendant’s silence. (Petition at 9-12). However, the State does not acknowledge that *Jaimes* already provides this guidance. And, importantly, the State does not argue that *Jaimes* test requires any tweaking by this Court.

The State thus tacitly concedes that the *Jaimes* test is correct. Review simply to formally adopt a test that everyone agrees is correct is not a good use of this

Court's resources. Indeed, this Court recently dismissed a petition for review as improvidently granted because "[r]esolving [the defendant's] case ... would require nothing more than an opinion from this court agreeing with the court of appeals ... [and] [t]here are much better uses of this court's time than repeating work already done correctly by a lower court." *State v. Lee*, 2022 WI 32, ¶ 2.

The State does argue that review is warranted to clarify this court's holding in *Bies v. State*, 53 Wis. 2d 322, 325–26, 193 N.W.2d 46, 49 (1972), perceiving some conflict between the court's observation that "it is proper for the district attorney to point out generally that no evidence has been introduced to show the innocence of the defendant" and with the Court of Appeals holding below that the prosecutor's repeated claim that the evidence was "uncontroverted" was improper. (Petition at 10-11, quoting *Bies*, 53 Wis. 2d at 325).

However, there is no conflict. In *Bies*, the defendant was convicted of robbing and killing a fellow bar patron. 53 Wis. 2d at 323. The defense was not that he did not commit the acts, but that he was too intoxicated to form the requisite intent. *Id.* at 324. Bies (who appeared pro se) argued that the prosecutor's observation "that certain evidence was uncontroverted" was an impermissible comment on his decision not to testify. *Id.* at 325. The Court rejected this argument because "the certain evidence" that the prosecutor said was uncontroverted was Bies's involvement in the robbery and murder of the victim,

which again was not contested by Bies because he instead relied on an intoxication defense. *Id.* The argument could thus in no way be construed as a comment about Bies's decision not to take the stand.² Further, the court's recognition that "generally" a prosecutor may comment on the lack of evidence supporting a defense theory does not conflict with the long-standing recognition that arguments based on a defendant's failure to testify are an exception to this rule.

In short, review is unnecessary because there is no dispute that the test applied by the Court of Appeals below to determine the propriety of a prosecutor's comments regarding the defendant's failure to testify is the correct test.

B. The Court of Appeals properly applied the test for determining whether a prosecutor's arguments were improper comments on a defendant's failure to testify.

In the second part of its Petition, the State argues that the Court of Appeals simply misapplied *Johnson* and *Jaimés*. (Petition at 12-16). Even if it were appropriate for this court to accept review simply to correct an error by the Court of Appeals, there was no error here. Indeed, the State relies on an argument

² As discussed below, this is in stark contrast to the facts in this case, where Hoyle's strategy was to contest that the State had met its burden of proving that he committed a sexual assault, and the only one who could controvert the allegations was Hoyle himself.

that it failed to make to the Court of Appeals and is anyway belied by the evidence in this case: that Hoyle was not the only witness who could have contested the victim's accusations.

As stated above, the Court of Appeals summarized the three-part test as follows:

for a prosecutor's comment to constitute an improper reference to the defendant's failure to testify, three factors must be present: (1) the comment must constitute a reference to the defendant's failure to testify; (2) the comment must propose that the failure to testify demonstrates guilt; and (3) the comment must not be a fair response to a defense argument.

Jaimes, 2006 WI App 93, ¶ 21.

Regarding the first factor, the *Jaimes* court retained the *Johnson* test, *i.e.* that the test for determining whether remarks are directed to a defendant's failure to testify is “whether the language used was manifestly intended or was of such character that the jury would naturally and necessarily take it to be a comment on the failure of the accused to testify.” *Id.* (cleaned up).

Hoyle argued below that this test was met here because Hoyle was the only one who could have contested Hannah's accusations. (Hoyle Br. at 32-35). Hannah testified that one unspecified evening in February 2017, Hoyle pulled up in a car while she was walking alone, convinced Hannah to get in the car, and then drove to a secluded place where he sexually assaulted her. Thus, by Hannah's own testimony, she

and Hoyle were the only two witnesses of the alleged assault. Accordingly, the only person who could have “controverted” Hannah’s version of events was Hoyle.

The court of appeals correctly identified *Jaimes* and *Johnson* as providing the proper tests for whether a prosecutor’s comments constitute an improper comment on a defendant’s right not to testify. Opinion at ¶¶ 11-12. The court reviewed the evidence at trial, and explained how the prosecutor’s comments “necessarily constituted a reference to Hoyle’s failure to testify,” a reference to the test in *Johnson*. Also, the court heeded the admonition of *Moeck*, 2005 WI 57, ¶ 74, that such determinations must be made on a “case by case” basis, such as by noting that the prosecutor’s comments were “improper under the circumstances of this case” and that the “prosecutor’s particular comments in this case necessarily constituted a reference to Hoyle’s failure to testify,” and by not recommending the opinion for publication. Opinion, ¶¶ 1, 18).

The State claims that the Hoyle court “erroneously assumed, without analysis, that the only evidence that could have controverted Hannah’s testimony was Hoyle’s testimony.” (Petition at 15). The State concedes that only Hoyle could have provided “direct evidence” controverting the alleged assault, but says that Hoyle could have provided “indirect evidence,” observing that “as a general matter, victims might tell a friend or family member a different version of the events” and that “cross examination is always available.” (*Id.*)

There are multiple problems with this argument. First, the State cannot fault the court of appeals for not considering whether there were “indirect” sources of evidence available to Hoyle when the State did not make any such argument to the court of appeals. While Hoyle specifically pointed out that the *Johnson* test was met because Hoyle was the only conceivable witness who could controvert Hannah’s claim that he assaulted her (Hoyle Br. at 33-34), the State did not make any argument that there were other evidence that could controvert Hannah’s testimony. (See State Response Br. at 21-24). This Court should not grant review to correct the state’s failure to make an argument below. *In re Commitment of Mark*, 2006 WI 78, 292 Wis. 2d 1, 24, n. 13, 718 N.W.2d 90, 101 (observing that “this court will ordinarily not consider an argument not raised in the court of appeals[.]”) (citation omitted).

Second, the State’s claim that Hoyle could have controverted Hannah’s testimony with a hypothetical witness of an inconsistent statement and through cross-examination is absurd. How could Hoyle “controvert” Hannah’s testimony by calling a witness that does not exist? And does the State really expect Hoyle’s counsel to have a Perry Mason moment, and cause Hannah to retract her statement through cross-examination? The State does not explain, beyond its two-sentence argument. This Court should not grant review on such weak grounds.

Regarding the second factor under *Jaimés*, that “the comment must propose that the failure to testify

demonstrates guilt,” the prosecutor specifically argued that Hoyle’s guilt is demonstrated by the fact that there was no evidence – which again, could have only come from Hoyle – controverting Hannah’s testimony. The Petition does not explain why this factor is not met, other than to deny that there was any comment regarding Hoyle’s failure to testify at all. (Petition at 16). Similarly,

Finally, the State concedes that the third factor *Jaimes* factor was met, as the prosecutor was not responding to a defense argument. (Petition at 15).

In sum, the second part of the State’s petition asks this court to correct an alleged error in the lower court’s application of a well-established rule on the limits of prosecutorial arguments implicating a defendant’s decision not to testify. The alleged error is based on a weak and undeveloped argument not made to the court of appeals. Accordingly, review is not warranted.

C. Other reasons for denying the petition.

The State does not point to, and Hoyle is not aware of, any cases in other jurisdictions conflicting with the decision below. For instance, the Seventh Circuit has observed that “[i]t appears obvious that using the word ‘uncontroverted’ in referring to government evidence—which was this particular prosecutor’s favorite—where it is highly unlikely that anyone beyond the non-testifying defendant could contradict the evidence, is just as improper as using the words ‘uncontradicted,’ ‘undenied,’ ‘unrebutted,’

‘undisputed,’ and ‘unchallenged’ in the same situation.” *United States v. Cotnam*, 88 F.3d 487, 499 (7th Cir. 1996) (collecting cases). Thus, there is no indication that review is necessary to bring Wisconsin law in harmony with the prevailing cases on this point.

It should also be pointed out that at no juncture has the State argued that any error in the prosecutor’s comments were harmless. The State did not argue harmless error in its briefing to the Court of Appeal or in the pending Petition. Accordingly, even if this court were to conclude that any violation was relatively minor, the State has waived any argument that it was harmless.

But regardless, the State likely conceded (even if tacitly) any harmless error argument because the State’s case relied solely on Hannah’s testimony, and the prosecutor’s comments were not isolated. The State did not introduce any corroborating evidence of any sort, such as DNA evidence, cell phone tower records, text messages, etc. In addition, the defendant’s failure to introduce evidence controverting Hannah’s testimony was a prominent part of the State’s closing argument.

For instance, the prosecutor argued that:

[Hannah’s] testimony that she gave here yesterday is uncontroverted. You have heard no evidence disputing her account of that sexual assault. You heard nothing.

...

All of that is uncontroverted. There is absolutely no evidence disputing her account of what occurred.

...

None of that was controverted, meaning it was all uncontroverted, meaning there was nothing controverting her statements about what had occurred to law enforcement, at the preliminary hearing, and at the trial.

(R. 92:18-21).

Accordingly, even if the State were allowed to forward a harmless error test for the first time before this Court, it would fail.

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